RECEIVED 05-10-2021 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

## STATE OF WISCONSIN IN THE SUPREME COURT Appeal No. 18-2005-CR

\_\_\_\_\_

### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

### GARLAND DEAN BARNES,

### **Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner**

# PETITION FOR REVIEW OF AN UNPUBLISHED DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS DISTRICT III

## PETITION FOR REVIEW OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT-PETITIONER, Garland Dean Barnes

COLE DANIEL RUBY Attorney at Law State Bar #1064819

Martinez & Ruby, LLP 620 8<sup>th</sup> Avenue Baraboo, WI 53913 (608) 355-2000

**Attorney for Petitioner** 

#

### ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Whether Barnes' due process and discovery rights were violated by (a) the State's failure to disclose the wire recording of the alleged drug transaction until the middle of trial, and (b) the flagrant misrepresentations both prior to trial by the prosecutor, and during trial by the lead investigator? Do these violations warrant a new trial, or does the combination of these and other egregious discovery violations committed by the State in this case warrant dismissal?

Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 5 of 40

The circuit court concluded that although a discovery violation occurred, no *Brady* violation occurred because the recording wasn't exculpatory, and that sanctions it ordered during trial were a sufficient remedy.

The court of appeals agreed that recording was not exculpatory, and that the sanctions ordered by the court were appropriate. The court did not address whether dismissal was an available remedy.

- 2. (a) Can a defendant "open the door" to testimonial hearsay violating his confrontation rights, and which was excluded based on an "egregious" discovery violation, by challenging the quality of the police investigation?
- (b) Can the claim that a non-testifying officer witnessed the defendant commit the crime be admitted over hearsay objections under the theory that it is admissible to show the course of investigation, not for the truth of the matter asserted?

The circuit court had initially excluded testimony from Officer Clauer based on an "egregious" discovery violation by the State, rendering Clauer unavailable to testify at trial, but admitted testimony from another officer that Clauer allegedly observed Barnes deliver the methamphetamine to the informant. The circuit court ruled that the defense opened the door to this testimony by challenging the lack of video surveillance of the controlled buy. Further, the court ruled this testimony went to the testifying officer's state of mind, and therefore was not hearsay. The circuit court never directly whether this admission violated addressed Barnes' confrontation rights.

The court of appeals agreed that the defense opened the door to this testimony, and that the evidence was not hearsay because it showed why the testifying officer took subsequent steps of arresting Barnes. The court of appeals Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 6 of 40

found that since the testimony was admitted for reasons other than the truth of the matter asserted, its admission did not violate Barnes' confrontation rights.

# 3. Whether prejudicial evidentiary errors denied Barnes a fair trial, and whether the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion by:

- a. Denying the defendant's motion for mistrial after repeated violations of the motion in limine to exclude other acts—specifically Marciniak's repeated references to prior methamphetamine deliveries with the defendant;
- b. Permitting the State to present testimony from police officers identifying a voice on the recorded calls as Barnes, despite lacking any foundation to identify his voice;
- c. Permitting the State to present testimony from police officers about the results of the initial search of Marciniak's vehicle, despite none of the testifying officers having participated in that search, thereby lacking personal knowledge; and
- d. Excluding the testimony of defense witness Gerald Clark based on a discovery violation, despite some of the proffered testimony being legitimate rebuttal testimony.

The circuit court agreed that the testimony under (a) violated the court's pretrial order, but did not create a "manifest injustice," and therefore denied the mistrial motion. The court of appeals concluded the court did not erroneously exercise its discretion.

The court concluded that none of the issues raised in (b), (c), or (d) were errors, that the evidence was appropriately admitted or excluded, and the defendant wasn't prejudiced.

For issue (b), the court of appeals held that any error in admitting testimony from the officers identifying Barnes' voice without foundation was harmless.

Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 7 of 40

For issue (c), the court of appeals held that the circuit court's "approach"—specifically, overruling the objection because there had already been significant unchallenged testimony regarding the vehicle search, was reasonable, and even if it was error, the error was harmless.

For issue (d), the court of appeals held that the circuit court reasonably exercised its discretion since most of the witness's information was not rebuttal, and since the court was concerned about the length of the trial—despite the fact that the State's discovery violations caused the trial to extend to the  $2^{nd}$  day.

# 4. Whether any non-preserved objections constituted ineffective assistance of counsel?

The trial court did not apply any procedural default, and did not find counsel was ineffective.

The court of appeals likewise did not apply any procedural defaults, and found no ineffective assistance.

Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 8 of 40

#### REASONS FOR GRANTING REVIEW

This case is appropriate for review for several reasons. First, no Wisconsin case directly addresses whether dismissal is an appropriate remedy when the State commits repeated, egregious discovery violations. Review is therefore appropriate under Wis. Stat. sec. 809.62(1r)(c)1, because the case calls for the application of a new doctrine, and 809.62(1r)(c)2, because the question presented is novel.

Second, this case presents a real and significant question of federal constitutional law which is the subject of a case where the United States Supreme Court recently granted certiorari—whether and under what circumstances a criminal defendant can open the door to responsive evidence otherwise barred by the Confrontation Clause. See Hemphill v. New York, No. 20-637, cert. granted 4/19/21. The question raised by the petition in *Hemphill* notes that a defendant may open the door to otherwise inadmissible evidence under ordinary rules of evidence, but questions whether a defendant forfeits the protections of constitutional rules like the Confrontation Clause simply by raising factual "issues" that otherwiseexcludable evidence might bear upon. Some federal courts hold that a defendant never "opens the door" to confrontation violations; see United States v. Cromer, 389 F.3d 662, 679 (6th Cir. 2004), while other jurisdictions like the state of New York, the respondent in *Hemphill*, hold that the government may introduce testimonial hearsay any time it may correct a "misleading" impression created by the defendant.

No Wisconsin courts have addressed this issue. It is squarely presented in this case. The circuit court excluded the testimony of an officer (Clauer) who supposedly witnessed Barnes deliver the methamphetamine to the informant because of what the court called an "egregious" discovery violation by the State for failure to disclose the officer's reports for over two years. But at trial, after the defense challenged the lack of video surveillance of the controlled

Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 9 of 40

buy, the State was permitted to present testimony from another officer claiming that Clauer personally witnessed Barnes deliver the box of meth to the informant. The defense argued this was hearsay that nullified the discovery sanction, but the circuit court permitted it under the reasoning that the defense opened the door, and the Court of Appeals agreed, without addressing whether this was even possible for a confrontation violation.

The other basis for admitting this testimony was the circuit court's belief that it was not for the truth of the matter asserted, but to show the course of the investigation by explaining why police moved in to arrest Barnes. The Court of Appeals agreed, and found no confrontation violation since it was not hearsay if not for the truth of the matter asserted. But the defense argued that "course of the investigation" claims cannot include contested matters bearing directly upon guilt—such as the out-of-court statements that one officer allegedly observed the defendant commit the crime. The defense asks this court to adopt the multi-part test from *United States v. Reyes*, 18 F.3d 65, 70-71 (2d Cir. 1994), assessing such evidence.

The remaining issues are fact-specific and controlled by existing precedent. To the extent that the issues involved do not independently meet the criteria for accepting a petition under Wis. Stat. sec. 809.62(1r), Barnes must nonetheless raise those claims here to preserve them for federal habeas review. See *O'Sullivan v. Boerchel*, 526 U.S. 838 (1999).

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Garland Barnes was convicted by a jury of delivering over 50 grams of methamphetamines on April 21, 2013 (R71:1-2). The transaction was arranged by drug task force officers from multiple agencies in Douglas County, Wisconsin, and was to occur behind the Temple Bar in the city of Superior (R167:94). The task force outfitted an

Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 10 of 40

informant, Charles Marciniak, with a recording device (R167:104). Marciniak had 25 prior criminal convictions and was working as an informant after having been arrested for multiple deliveries of methamphetamines (R167:92-93,156).

After Marciniak made multiple phone calls with the intended target, police gave him \$7,200 in pre-recorded currency to purchase four ounces of meth (R167:95,104-06). Marciniak drove to the pre-arranged location, a parking lot where several officers were positioned to conduct surveillance and block off possible escape routes (R167:108). However, lead investigator Paul Winterscheidt hadn't parked by the time an exchange was over, and didn't personally witness the transaction (R167:108,172-73).

As Marciniak drove away, Winterscheidt heard over dispatch that the transaction occurred, so he ordered officers to converge (R167:109). Police attempted, unsuccessfully, to corner the suspect vehicle, a black Chevy Tahoe, in the parking lot, resulting in a brief chase before police stopped the vehicle (R167:109-13). The white bag with recorded buy funds was located on the floor near the front console of the vehicle, near passenger Bobbi Reed (R167:112). Reed was found in possession of several grams of meth (R167:112). The driver, Garland Barnes, had no drugs or recorded money on his person, but had unmarked money in his pockets (R166:49; R167:111).

Subsequently, investigator Winterscheidt met up with Marciniak, who provided him a black box containing four ounces of methamphetamine (R167:118-19). Marciniak told Winterscheidt that he'd thrown the buy money into Barnes' vehicle, and Barnes handed him the box of meth (R167:122). Marciniak testified Barnes sold him the meth (R166:88).

The defense argued Marciniak had actually sold meth to Barnes or Reed, not the other way around (*see* R166:202-03). No photographs or video surveillance captured the actual

Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 11 of 40

transaction (R167:131,136). No DNA or fingerprint testing was done on the box containing meth (R167:166-68). None of the three testifying officers witnessed the actual transaction (R166:23; R167:172-73,229). Marciniak knew how to manufacture meth (R166:106). There were areas on his person or in his truck he could have concealed meth (*see* R167:140-43). Marciniak was out of surveillance for 5-10 minutes after the alleged transaction (R167:176-78;238-39).

Further, the defense attacked Marciniak's motive to set up Barnes to avoid prison for his own drug dealing. Marciniak received an extremely lenient plea agreement—probation, one day in jail, and dismissal of a 2<sup>nd</sup> meth delivery (R166:45-46;115-16). When asked if he wanted to go to prison, Marciniak testified, "Absolutely not" (R166:113), and admitted "I'll do everything to get out of [jail]" (R166:108).

On the second day of trial, the defense moved for dismissal based upon the mid-trial revelation that the undisclosed wire recording contained voices from the transaction (R166:57-58)—contrary to the prosecutor's claims before trial (R167:8), and the lead investigator's testimony (R167:128,130,161). The court acknowledged this was the second "pretty significant discovery violation," but denied the dismissal motion in lieu of other sanctions (R166:60-61).

The defense subsequently moved for mistrial after Marciniak repeatedly referenced allegations that Barnes delivered methamphetamines to him on previous occasions, in violation of the defense motion to exclude such testimony (R166:147-48). The court agreed the excluded other-acts were mentioned "throughout" Marciniak's testimony, but denied the mistrial motion because the violations didn't create a "manifest injustice" (R166:150).

<sup>1</sup> As discussed *infra*, the court applied the wrong legal standard for denying a defendant's motion for mistrial.

10

Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 12 of 40

The jury found Barnes guilty (R166:229).

Prior to sentencing, the defense filed a motion for new trial based on (1) Marciniak's repeated references to otheracts violating the court's pretrial order; (2) the Court's erroneous exclusion of the defendant's rebuttal witness, Gerald Clark; and (3) the Court's erroneous admission of Officer Clauer allegedly observing the actual drug exchange, through the hearsay testimony of Investigator Winterscheidt, after the court excluded such testimony as a discovery violation (R90:3). The court orally denied the motion (R144:15-23), and entered a written order to that effect (R94).

The court sentenced Barnes to 30 years in prison, with 15 years initial confinement and 15 years extended supervision (R99:1).

By new counsel, Barnes filed post-conviction motions seeking dismissal or a new trial based on the same errors alleged in this appeal (R125). The State submitted a response brief (R127), and the defense submitted an addendum (R128). The court held an evidentiary hearing with testimony from attorney Gondik and his son (R180). The court entered an oral ruling denying the motions (R180:75-85), and a written order consistent with that ruling (R132).

Barnes timely filed a notice of appeal from the judgment of conviction and the order denying post-conviction motions (R136).

The court of appeals affirmed. *State v. Garland Barnes*, Appeal No. 2018AP2005-CR, unpublished order (Wis. Ct. App. March 16, 2021) (App. 7-31). The court found no *Brady* violation because the undisclosed recording was ambiguous, and therefore not favorable to the defense, and because defense counsel impeached the officers at trial about false statements pertaining to the recording. *Id.*, ¶¶14-15. For the same reason, the court found no prejudice sufficient to

Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 13 of 40

warrant a new trial based on a statutory discovery violation. *Id.*, ¶16. The court further concluded that the totality of discovery violations were reasonably addressed by the circuit court's sanction of excluding Bobbi Reed's testimony, and that it was not an erroneous exercise of discretion in denying the request for a new trial. *Id.*, ¶¶18-20.

The court of appeals concluded that the circuit court's denial of the motion for mistrial was not erroneous because, although Marciniak's testimony about prior deliveries violated the motion in limine, it was "innocuous" background information, and because the offer to give a curative instruction was reasonable. *Id.*, ¶¶26-28.

The court of appeals rejected all of the defendant's evidentiary challenges. The court held that even assuming it was error to admit testimony from the officers identifying Barnes' voice without foundation, the error was harmless. *Id.*, ¶43. The court held that on the issue of the officers lacking personal knowledge of the search of Marciniak's vehicle, the circuit court's decision to overrule the objection because there had already been significant unchallenged testimony regarding the vehicle search was reasonable, and even if it was error, the error was harmless. *Id.*, ¶45. Further, the court held that exclusion of witness Clark's information proper because it was not rebuttal, and that the circuit court's concern about the length of trial was reasonable. *Id.*, ¶47-49.

The court of appeals likewise affirmed the admission of testimony regarding Officer Clauer's alleged observations under the theories that it was not hearsay admitted for its truth because it explained Winterscheidt's actions, and because the defense opened the door by questioning whether the testifying officers observed the transaction. *Id.*, ¶¶31-35. However, its opinion repeatedly characterized the defense's claim as objecting merely to testimony identifying Clauer as the officer who "witnessed the transaction" or "observed the transaction." *Id.*, ¶¶31-34. The court observed in a footnote

Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 14 of 40

that "the mere naming of the specific officer who claimed to have witnessed the transaction did not transform the testimony into a hearsay statement for purposes of the Confrontation Clause." *Id.*, ¶35, n.7.

Regarding the alternative argument that any non-preserved objections constituted ineffective assistance of counsel, the court of appeals noted that it had not applied "any kind of forfeiture rule" to any of Barnes' arguments. *Id.*, ¶50. The court noted issues where counsel could have taken alternative actions, and questioned whether those would be deficient under prevailing constitutional standards, but concluded none would be prejudicial. *Id.*, ¶¶51-52.

The defense filed a timely motion to reconsider, arguing the court of appeals' reasoning on admission of Officer Clauer's observations omitted key facts from its argument about the hearsay and confrontation violations—that he hadn't just "observed the transaction," but that he specifically claimed to have witnessed Barnes throw the box of methamphetamine into the informant's vehicle (App: 2-6). The court of appeals denied reconsideration, noting, "this court fully reviewed the challenged testimony, including the prosecutor's questions. Nothing in the materials presented by Barnes' motion for reconsideration alters this court's view" (App: 1).

Additional facts will be provided where appropriate.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. Dismissal Is An Appropriate Remedy When The State Commits Repeated, Flagrant Discovery Violations, And The Violations In This Case Warrant Dismissal Or A New Trial

Disclosure of favorable or exculpatory evidence is required by amendments VI and XIV to the United States Constitution. "[T]he suppression by the prosecution of

Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 15 of 40

evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution." *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963). Evidence favorable to the accused encompasses both exculpatory and impeachment evidence. *Strickler v. Greene*, 527 U.S. 263, 281-82 (1999). Similarly, Wisconsin's discovery statutes require a prosecutor to disclose, within a reasonable time before trial, "(a) Any written or recorded statement concerning the alleged crime made by the defendant," "(e) Any relevant written or recorded statements of a witness named on a list" and (h) "any exculpatory evidence." Wis. Stat. secs. 971.23(1)(a), (e),(h).

Traditionally, the remedy for a **Brady** or discovery violation is a new trial. However, federal courts have recognized that dismissal of charges may be an appropriate remedy for "flagrant" discovery violations. See United States v. Chapman, 524 F.3d 1073, 1086 (9th Cir. 2008). Dismissal is warranted when the government acts in "reckless disregard for [its] constitutional obligations." Id. at 1085; see also Gov't of the Virgin Islands v. Fahie, 419 F.3d 249, 256 (3d Cir. 2005). Similarly, courts may dismiss charges under their supervisory powers "for violations of recognized rights" and "to deter illegal conduct." Fahie, 419 F.3d at 258; see also Chapman, 524 F.3d at 1087; United States v. Ramming, 915 F. Supp. 2d 854, 867-68 (S.D. Tex. 1996) (granting dismissal after Brady violations and factual misrepresentations). No Wisconsin case has addressed whether dismissal is an available remedy for such violations.

This is an appropriate case for dismissal—not just for the numerous discovery violations, which the circuit court called "disturbing," but also for the State's flagrant lies and misrepresentations throughout the proceedings.

Less than one week before trial, the defense moved to exclude Marcianiak's testimony because the State hadn't

Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 16 of 40

disclosed consideration provided for his informant work (R55). The court agreed that a discovery violation had occurred and ordered disclosure of the consideration immediately, but denied exclusion (R168:6-8).

The defense also moved to exclude testimony from Officer Duane Clauer based on late disclosure of his reports (R53). Although Clauer participated in the original investigation from April 2013, his reports weren't disclosed until June-July 2015, and the prosecutor offered no explanation (R168:8-9,14). Clauer's observations were critical—he was the only officer who claimed to personally observe the drug transaction (R126:13). The court excluded Clauer's testimony due to "the egregious nature of the violation" (R167:4-5).<sup>2</sup>

Arguably even more egregious was the State's handling of the wire recording, which included not just failure to disclose, but also blatant falsehoods. First, on April 24, 2014, just over a year after Barnes' arrest, the State's response to attorney Gondik's discovery demand asserted Gondik made a "verbal and/or email discovery request—and received on 4/14/14—police recordings of the alleged informant—defendant phone calls and charged delivery transaction" (R16:2) (emphasis added). This was false; the State didn't disclose the delivery recording as claimed.

The second misrepresentation came after the defense moved *in limine* to exclude any recorded audio of the controlled buy due to nondisclosure (R65:1). When the court commented that it was his understanding there "was no audio," the prosecutor clarified the "audio was running," but "no audible voices are heard. It's only background noises" (R167:7-8).

<sup>2</sup> As will be discussed *infra*, however, the key substance of Clauer's purported observations was still admitted at trial through another officer.

-

Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 17 of 40

The third series of misrepresentations consisted of perjured testimony by Investigator Winterscheidt, who provided the audio recording to the State (R167:128). Winterscheidt confirmed he'd listened to the recording, and testified there are "no voices on the audio recording," and instead "just a lot of background noise" (R167:128-29). In response to further questioning, Winterscheidt again claimed, "there was no spoken words" (R167:130), and "There is an audio recording. Just no words were spoken" (R167:161).

This testimony was exposed as false when Officer Tanski testified that an audio recording existed, and Marciniak's voice was audible on the recording (R167:235-36). The court subsequently ordered the State to disclose any audio of the controlled buy to the defense (R167:286-89).

The next day Sergeant James Madden testified he'd listened to the audio, and concluded, "There were voices on there, yes. The informant certainly, and another person you can vaguely hear" (R166:10). When asked if Investigator Winterscheidt's testimony about the recording having only background noise was truthful, Madden answered, "It's not truthful" (R166:10-11).

The court addressed the recording outside the jury's presence, noting both sides had reviewed the audio recording, there were voices, and it hadn't previously been disclosed to the defense (R166:54). The court concluded, "obviously it's a discovery violation" (R166:54).

In response, the prosecutor explained that at the last motion hearing, she informed attorney Gondik she'd "just learned there was another recording on the informant," and the recording only had background noise (R166:55). However, the prosecutor's claim that she'd "just learned" about the recording was false. Investigator Winterscheidt's report, which existed in the file from the beginning of the case, specifically indicated "I fitted CRI1 with a concealed

Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 18 of 40

electronic recorder/transmitter device" (R126:14). Winterscheidt's report also stated he "copied the audio files to the case file" (R126:15). Clearly the State knew of the recording before the July 1, 2015 hearing.

Attorney Gondik argued the discovery violation and Investigator Winterscheidt's false testimony warranted dismissal pursuant to the court's scheduling order, which subjected parties to sanctions including dismissal for noncompliance (R166:57-58; R45:3).

The court agreed this was a "pretty significant discovery violation," but declined to dismiss because the recording purportedly contained no exculpatory information (R166:60). The court instead permitted additional cross-examination, suggested a jury instruction be drafted, and considered the request to exclude Bobbi Reed (R166:60,63). The court lamented that this issue "just doesn't lend itself very well to going forward with very much confidence in what has happened here so far" (R166:61).

Subsequently Reed expressed willingness to testify and the court purged her contempt order (R166:151-53). The defense, noting it wasn't waiving its motions for mistrial or dismissal, moved to exclude Reed as a discovery sanction (R166:153-54). The court granted the request, concluding, "This isn't something where there was one violation, but there's a number of violations repeatedly" (R166:155-56).<sup>3</sup>

Post-conviction, the defense obtained a copy of the wire recording, and had the audio enhanced by an expert (R129:1-2). In addition to containing voices of Marciniak and the officers, the recording includes Marciniak speaking to another male, in an ambiguous conversation where one asks if they're "good on that other one" (R181: 8:33-8:52).

<sup>3</sup> The State made no offer of proof as to the proposed substance of Reed's testimony.

-

Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 19 of 40

The court concluded the record wasn't exculpatory, aside from the existence of the recording with statements (as opposed to the recording's contents) impeached the officer's false testimony, which attorney Gondik already did (R180:75-76). The court argued the defense got the "best of both worlds," impeaching Winterscheidt regarding the recording, without the recording being admitted (R180:75-76). While the court agreed the mid-trial disclosure was "ridiculous," it denied dismissal or a new trial, concluding the defense wasn't prejudiced (R180:75-77).

The recording had more exculpatory value than the court acknowledged. Beyond just impeaching Winterscheidt's false testimony about the recording, the substance of the recording contradicted another lie from Winterscheidt. Earlier in the trial. Winterscheidt testified that after the controlled buy, he interviewed Marciniak, who "said he threw the buy funds into the truck as Garland Barnes threw the black box with the red bow into his truck, and they parted company without speaking any words" (R167:122) (emphasis added). Winterscheidt then testified he listened to the wire recording, and didn't hear anything inconsistent with Marciniak's statements (R167:122). The recording contradicts this, because it was inconsistent with Marciniak's claim—Barnes and Marciniak did have a discussion during the exchange. Had the defense been provided this recording, the defense could have used it to impeach both Winterscheidt and Marciniak regarding this lie.

Third, expert enhancement of the audio—which Gondik couldn't do mid-trial (R180:14)—reveals the contents of the recording are favorable to the defense generally because there is significant ambiguity in the discussion, with no clear indication of who is buying what from whom. Accordingly, the recording fails to refute the theory of defense, and creates a favorable inference.

Case 2018AP002005 Petition for Review Filed 05-10-2021 Page 20 of 40

This evidence was material because the defense had substantially attacked the quality of the investigation and the veracity of the lead investigator, demonstrated numerous aspects of this transaction were not "controlled," and identified both motive and means for Marciniak to set Barnes up. Additional evidence contradicting the claims of Winterscheidt and Marciniak, or creating ambiguity in the transaction, would have further supported reasonable doubt.

More importantly, this non-disclosure was one of several egregious discovery violations, and flagrant factual misrepresentations by both the prosecutor and law enforcement. The court's sanction of excluding the testimony of Bobbi Reed couldn't offset the prejudice of these errors. Since the State made no offer of proof on Reed's proposed testimony, this court has no way of evaluating how detrimental—if at all—Reed's testimony would have even been to the defense. And the sanction of excluding Clauer's testimony was completely nullified by the court's admission of the key fact Clauer claimed to have seen—that Barnes threw the box of meth into Marciniak's vehicle.

Dismissal is warranted to correct the prejudice suffered, as well as to deter the government from withholding evidence, lying to cover it up, and presenting the false testimony of law enforcement at trial. At minimum, these violations warrant a new trial.

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