FILED 10-28-2021 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

IN SUPREME COURT

No. 2018AP2005-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff -Respondent,

v.

GARLAND DEAN BARNES,

Defendant-Appellant-Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

Filed 10-28-2021

JOHN W. KELLIS Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1083400

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-7081 (608) 294-2907 (Fax) kellisjw@doj.state.wi.us

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

DISCUSSION

Barnes's case does not meet this Court's criteria for review.

A. Barnes's various evidentiary challenges do not warrant review because, by his own admission, they are fact-specific and governed by existing precedent.

Barnes dedicates nearly half of his petition's argument section to convincing this Court that the circuit court made evidentiary errors during his trial. (Pet. 25–37.) For all but one of those alleged errors, Barnes hardly references the court of appeals' reasoning for rejecting his claims, let alone explains why the court's decision was wrong. (See Pet. 25–37.) And he certainly makes no attempt to show how further review of those claims would satisfy any of the criteria enumerated in Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r). (See Pet. 25–37.)

Rather, Barnes explicitly acknowledges that his various evidentiary claims "are fact-specific and controlled by existing precedent" and raised solely to preserve the ability to seek federal habeas review. (Pet. 9.) In so admitting, Barnes concedes that those claims fail to satisfy this Court's criteria for review. See Wis. Stat. § (Rule) 809.62(1r)(c)1. (review warranted where a decision will develop, clarify or harmonize

¹ As the State later explains, Barnes effectively concedes that further review of those remaining evidentiary claims is unwarranted as they are "fact-specific and controlled by existing precedent." (Pet. 9.) Thus, in the interest of brevity, the State does not address the court of appeals' analysis of each underlying claim.

the law and case merits application of new doctrine "rather than merely the application of well-settled principles to the factual situation").

The State will not belabor the reasons that Barnes's analysis is flawed; the court of appeals already did that when it rejected each of his evidentiary claims based on firmly rooted legal principles, including harmless error. (Pet-App. 19–28.) Suffice to say, this Court is tasked with law development, not error-correction, and there is no reason to grant review to reapply the same established legal standards employed by the court of appeals to facts unique to Barnes's case on the off chance that this Court might arrive at a different result.

В. Review is unnecessary to clarify the limits of a circuit court's sanction authority in response to a State discovery violation.

Barnes also insists that review is necessary because "no Wisconsin case directly addresses whether dismissal is an appropriate remedy when the State commits repeated, egregious discovery violations." (Pet. 8.) But even accepting that as true, the overarching issue in Barnes's appeal is not whether the circuit court could have ordered Barnes's case dismissed. Rather, the issue presented in this appeal is whether the circuit court erroneously exercised its discretion when choosing an appropriate remedy for the State's discovery violations. (See Pet-App. 10–16.)

On that point, the law is already clear on a circuit court's broad discretion in fashioning remedies for discovery violations, and the court of appeals recognized the same. (Pet-App. 15-16.) Relevant here, Wis. Stat. § 971.23(7m)(a) permits a circuit court to exclude witnesses or evidence that the State fails to properly disclose, and Wis. Stat. § 971.23(7m)(b) allows for a curative instruction to inform the jury of the nondisclosure. Although neither statute explicitly

provides for case dismissal, it goes without saying that courtordered exclusion of evidence integral to the State's case would have the practical effect of leaving the State no option but to dismiss the defendant's case.

Moreover, to the extent that Barnes contends that his case is the appropriate vehicle for this Court to adopt a brand new rule born from various federal circuits, his stance is overstated. Yes, the State failed to disclose an officer's police report in discovery, so the circuit court imposed a harsh sanction of excluding the officer's testimony in its entirety. (R. 68; 69.) And given Bobbi Reed's former refusal to testify, the court granted defense counsel's request to exclude her testimony as an additional sanction for the State's discovery violations. (R. 166:153–56.)

Furthermore, due to confusion between the prosecutor and investigating officers about the controlled drug purchase surveillance video, the State was unable to show the jury video evidence of the alleged transaction, and defense counsel was afforded wider latitude to cross-examine the State's witnesses. (See R. 166:56–61.) In so ordering, the circuit court recognized that Barnes effectively got the "best of both worlds" by excluding the State's recording while gaining the ability to impeach Investigator Winterscheidt's testimony as false. (R. 180:75–76.)

Moreover, the court of appeals astutely recognized that Barnes failed to show that the purportedly suppressed evidence was actually favorable to his defense or that it was material. (Pet-App. 13.) Perhaps case dismissal might be an appropriate remedy where the State engaged in a flagrant Brady violation, but that did not occur. (See Pet-App. 12–14.) There is no need to break ground to craft a new remedy disproportionate to the State's discovery violations, particularly where the circuit court weighed its options and imposed several harsh but appropriate sanctions during Barnes's trial.

C. Review is unnecessary to clarify whether a defendant can open the door to evidence excluded under the Confrontation Clause.

Finally, Barnes contends that review is necessary because his case presents a real and significant question of federal constitutional law concerning "whether and under what circumstances a criminal defendant can open the door to responsive evidence otherwise barred by the Confrontation Clause." (Pet. 8.) Admittedly, Barnes's position on that point would typically prove persuasive; as he correctly observes, "[n]o Wisconsin courts have addressed this issue. It is squarely presented in this case." (Pet. 8.)

The problem with Barnes's logic, however, is he readily admits that the Supreme Court will decide this exact issue later this term. (See Pet. 8–9.) While this Court generally grants review when confronted with a real and significant question of federal or state constitutional, it is beyond debate that the Supreme Court will have issued a decision answering the question Barnes poses before this Court could grant review, allow the parties sufficient opportunity to brief this issue, schedule and complete oral argument, and issue a decision.²

Furthermore, this Court generally applies Supreme Court precedents when interpreting the Sixth Amendment and analogous provisions under the Wisconsin Constitution, *State v. Hanson*, 2019 WI 63, ¶ 16, 387 Wis. 2d 233, 928 N.W.2d 607, *cert. denied*, 140 S. Ct. 407 (2019). While a stay of Barnes's appeal may be appropriate as he suggests, (*see*

² The Supreme Court granted the petition for certiorari in *Hemphill v. New York* on April 12, 2021, the parties completed their briefing by September 3, 2021, and the Supreme Court heard oral argument earlier this month. *Darrell Hemphill v. New York*, No. 20-0637, https://www.supremecourt.gov/search.aspx?filename =/docket/docketfiles/html/public/20-637.html.

Pet. 24 n.4), there is simply no need for this Court to grant review to break new ground on an issue that will soon be decided by the Supreme Court.

CONCLUSION

The court of appeals correctly affirmed Barnes's judgment of conviction and the order denying postconviction relief, and further review by this Court is unnecessary and unwarranted.